IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 61,681

DONALD ROY JONES, etc., et al.,

Petitioner,

vs.

UTICA MUTUAL INSURANCE CO.,

Respondent.

JUL 982

JUL 982

SID J. WHITE

CLEAR SUPPLIES COURT

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

WAGNER, CUNNINGHAM, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A. 708 Jackson Street Tampa, Fla. 33602 -and-PODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A. 25 W. Flagler Street, Suite 1201 Miami, Fla. 33130 (305) 358-2800

Attorneys for Petitioner

BY: JOEL S. PERWIN

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In June of 1977, the Petitioner, DONALD ROY JONES (hereinafter "plaintiff"), by and through his parents, Donald and Karen Jones, and his parents individually, brought a civil action against ROY G. DAVIS (hereinafter "defendant"), seeking damages for injuries sustained by the plaintiff in 1974, when he was struck by a wagon being pulled by a dog named Shane owned by the defendant while a guest on the defendant's premises (R. 1-2). 1/ The accident occurred after the plaintiff and two other youngsters—one of them the defendant's son—had been playing with Shane while Shane was tied to the small wagon, which clipped the plaintiff's Archilles tendon when Shane began to chase the plaintiff's dog.

The plaintiff's amended complaint joined as a defendant Respondent UTICA MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY (hereinafter "Utica"), which had issued a liability insurance policy covering, inter alia, the defendant Roy G. Davis, doing business on the property in question as Tampa Wholesale Nursery (hereinafter "Nursery") (R. 3-5). In its answer, Utica interposed a general denial and the affirmative defense of contributory negligence (R. 6-7). The defendant interposed the same denial and affirmative defense, and in addition filed a crossclaim against Utica alleging derivative liability under the insurance policy (R. 8-10). Thereafter, the plaintiff filed a second amended complaint naming not only the defendant, but in addition, inter alia, the defendant doing business as Tampa Wholesale Nursery (R. 42-44), and both the defendant and Utica filed answers effectively identical to those filed earlier (R. 46-47, 48-49).

Trial commenced on September 15, 1980, and on that date the trial court directed a verdict in favor of the plaintiff on the question of liability under

^{1/ &}quot;R." refers to the record on appeal. "Tr." refers to the separately-paginated transcript of the trial at R. 189-530. The Respondent's briefs in the Court of Appeal will be designated "Utica's brief" or "Utica's reply brief."

§767.01, Fla. Stat. (1979) (Tr. 246, 332). $\frac{2}{}$ In addition, the trial court denied Utica's motion for a directed verdict, which asserted that Utica's liability policy did not cover the injury in question (Tr. 281-282). Instead, the court instructed the jury to determine whether the plaintiff's injuries "arose with respect to the conduct of the business of Roy G. Davis, doing business as Tampa Wholesale Nursery" (Tr. 334). The jury answered that question "Yes" (Tr. 339), awarding the plaintiff \$7600.00 and his parents \$2250.00 (Tr. 339).

Utica appealed to the Court of Appeal, Second District, on two grounds--that the trial court had erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of the defendant on the issue of liability under Section 767.01, Fla. Stat. (1979), and that the trial court had erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of Utica on the issue of insurance coverage (Utica's brief at 8). Thus, Utica "assigned" as error only the trial court's refusal to direct a verdict for the defendant on the issue of liability, thereby challenging the direction of a verdict for the <u>plaintiff</u> on that issue only in this particular context. In short, Utica raised no contention that the question of liability should have been submitted to the jury, but only that it should have been resolved in the defendant's favor as a matter of law. Utica also argued that the trial court erred in submitting the question of coverage to the jury, rather than directing a verdict on that issue in its favor.

^{2/} Section 767.01 provides:

Owners Responsible. -- Owners of dogs shall be liable for any damage done by their dogs to sheep or other domestic animals or livestock, or to persons.

^{3/} The defendant did not appeal the judgment entered against him, nor did he cross-appeal the judgment after Utica initiated its appeal from the judgment. He was therefore unable to challenge the plaintiff's judgment against him, which became final, though he was of course entitled as an appellee to urge affirmance of the trial court's judgment against Utica. See HALL v. FLORIDA BOARD OF PHARMACY, 177 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1965); CERNIGLIA v. C & D FARMS, INC., 203 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1967); MacNEILL v. O'NEAL, 238 So.2d 614 (Fla. 1970). The Court of Appeal appeared to acknowledge as much in noting in its opinion that "Utica Mutual Insurance Company, one of the defendants in the trial court, appeals a final judgment awarding damages against it and appellee/defendant Roy G. Davis in favor of plaintiffs " UTICA MUTUAL INSURANCE CO. v. JONES, 408 So.2d 769, 770 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982).

The Court of Appeal agreed with both contentions, in UTICA MUTUAL IN-SURANCE CO. v. JONES, 408 So.2d 769 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982). As a framework for its consideration of the issue of liability under §767.01, the Court of Appeal began by citing with approval the decision in WENDLAND v. AKERS, 356 So.2d 368, 369-70 n. 5 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 342 (Fla. 1979), which concluded that because the phrase "or to persons" had been added to the statute only by its compilers, that particular phrase "should be given a restrictive scope " With that observation, the Court of Appeal concluded that the statute should apply "only where the damage done by the dog is the direct cause of the injury," a condition which requires determination of "whether the injury was caused by some canine characteristic within the contemplation of the statute." Id. at 771. In this case, the Court of Appeal concluded, the conduct of Shane in chasing another dog, while obviously a canine characteristic, "was not that conduct which directly caused Donnie's injury. But for the wagon, no injury would have occurred when Shane ran past Donnie, inasmuch as the dog never came in contact with the boy." Id. Thus, the Court of Appeal concluded, "this injury was not caused as a result of the risk created by dog ownership" <u>Id</u>. at 771-72.

In addition, the Court of Appeal appeared to endorse an alternative holding on this issue of liability--that "Donnie's injuries here were in no way attributable to an affirmative or aggressive toward him by the dog." Id. at 772 (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeal continued: "Although Shane clearly was engaged in an aggressive act toward Donnie's dog, Donnie would not personally have been affected by Shane's act of chasing his dog had the wagon, which was what came in contact with Donnie, not been left tied to Shane." Id. This passage appears to suggest an alternative holding that the statute was inapplicable because Shane had taken no affirmative or aggressive action toward the plaintiff. But on the other hand, this passage also appears to suggest that Shane's aggressive conduct

toward the plaintiff's dog <u>would</u> have satisfied the "aggressive act" requirement if Shane himself had come into contact with the plaintiff, thus rendering this "alternative" holding dependent upon the first.

On the question of insurance coverage, the Court of Appeal observed that the policy in question covered only accidents arising out of the conduct of the defendant's nursing business, and "[n]either the three boys nor the dog were involved in an activity related to the business at the time the injury occurred." Id. The Court of Appeal continued:

Although, at the time of the accident, the boys were proceeding toward the back of the nursery where the irrigation system control was located, there was no evidence that they were doing so for the purpose of Moreover, while Shane was adjusting those controls. used after business hours as a watchdog, she was most certainly outside the scope of her employment at the time of the accident. The test to be employed in determining whether the dog was conducting some business of her employer at the time of this accident is whether the dog was doing what her employment contemplated. . . . The business of the employer is the type the employee was employed to perform, occurs within the time and space limits of the employment, and is motivated by a purpose to serve the employer. . . . Although Shane was within the time and space limits of her employment, she had been prevented from properly performing her duties as a watchdog by being tied to the wagon.

<u>Id</u>. at 772. Thus, the Court of Appeal reversed the judgment, and this Court accepted jurisdiction on June 9, 1982.

II STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In January of 1974, when the plaintiff was 12 years old (Tr. 120), he went to visit his friend Michael Davis, and a third friend, Kenny King, on the Davis' six-to-seven acre property on McIntosh Road in Hillsborough County, Florida (Tr. 26, 77-78, 124). Michael's father, Roy Davis, owned the property-utilizing approximately one and one-half acres as a residential area, and the rest for two businesses--Davis Landscaping Co., Inc., and Roy G. Davis, doing business as

Tampa Wholesale Nursery (Tr. 33-36). In practice, there was "no differentiation" between the residential and business areas of the property (Tr. 33, 254).

On the day in question, the plaintiff and his two friends were playing "in the nursery area" (Tr. 38; see Tr. 78-79) with a 50-60 pound German Shepherd named Shane, which the defendant had received as a gift from a business acquaintance 3-5 years earlier (Tr. 41, 69-70, 176-177). Shane was not a family pet (Tr. 71, 73), but rather was used as a "watch dog" (Tr. 40) on the property: "I've had a dog as a watch dog ever since we moved in there but that particular dog, it was the best one I ever had" (Tr. 40-41). The defendant had experienced problems on the property with "people stealing plants" (Tr. 83), and thus had allowed Shane and his other dogs to run free in the nursery as watch dogs (Tr. 63-64, 73, 83). For this reason, the defendant's "businesses paid for the expenses of the dog" (Tr. 42), including food and veterinarian bills (Tr. 42, In addition, and with the concurrence of his accountant, the defendant deducted all expenses for his dogs as business expenses on both his personal income tax return and the return which he filed for Davis Landscaping Company, Inc. (Tr. 42-43, 179). The defendant had been audited by IRS in 1976, and these deductions had not been questioned (Tr. 178-179).

At the time of the plaintiff's injury, the nursery was closed to the public (Tr. 87); however, there remained a variety of business activities to be performed:

After all business ceased, then [the gate] was locked always but there are other things that go on after 4 o'clock. There are nursery operations that go on, landscaping trucks coming in and so on and so on (Tr. 44-45).

Among these business activities were certain functions performed by Michael Davis and the defendant's other children. Michael's duties were "important" (Tr. 38), and included potting plants for his father and "turning on the water at night

when the nursery closed" (Tr. 38; $\underline{\text{see}}$ Tr. 38-39, 84). The defendant paid Michael for his services out of "company money" (Tr. 52; $\underline{\text{see}}$ Tr. 38-39, 51-52).

Michael Davis recalled that on the date of the plaintiff's injury, the nursery was closed, and the dog Shane "had the run of the nursery" pursuant to his watch dog functions (Tr. 88; see Tr. 87). As Michael remembered the incident, all three of the young boys had tied Shane to a small red wagon (Tr. 78; see Tr. 149), which was used to haul plants in the business (Tr. 42, 58, 83), and which was ordinarily stored in a shed in which both business and personal items were kept (Tr. 59). Michael remembered that the three boys and the dog, tied to the wagon, had been running up and down the aisles of the nursery (Tr. 77-78). At the time of the accident, however, to the best of Michael's recollection, the three were finished playing and had started toward the back of the property so that Michael could perform his assigned chore of turning on the sprinkler system:

- Q. Mike, just so that I understand it: It is your recollection at this time that the nursery was closed?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And as I understand, part of your chores then was, when the nursery closed, you had to --
- A. -- turn on the water.
- Q. -- turn on the water.
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. You don't recall whether you had turned it on or you were going to turn it on.
- A. I think we was just heading back to turn it on. I can't remember if it was a weekend or not, because if it was a weekend, we didn't turn it on until midafternoon, midafternoon to late afternoon.
- Q. About the time of day that this took place?
- A. Yes.
- Q. It's your recollection that you were going back to turn it on or had gone back and turned it on already?

- A. Yes.
- Q. And the other boys accompanied you when you went back to do this on this day?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And if the nursery had closed, as you recall it, would Shane then have had the run of the nursery to do what she was supposed to do out there?
- A. (Indicating affirmatively.)
- Q. Your answer is yes?
- A. Yes, yes.

(Tr. 87-88). At that point, Michael recalled, another dog--a small yellow dog owned by the plaintiff--ran out from one of the rows of plants, and Shane took off after it, at which point the wagon he was pulling hit the plaintiff's leg (Tr. 77-80).

The plaintiff's recollection of the incident was identical, with one exception: the plaintiff recalled that Mike Davis and Kenny King were already in the nursery when he arrived there (Tr. 124), and had already tied Shane to the red wagon (Tr. 125, 146, 147). The plaintiff remembered that the two other boys were "jumping in the wagon but the dog was too weak to pull them so they decided to quit doing that and then they headed back toward the back of the nursery then" (Tr. 125). Thus the plaintiff supported Michael Davis' recollection that the three had stopped playing at the time of the accident, and were heading toward the back of the property (see also Tr. 152). There was no evidence that the boys were still playing with Shane at the time of the accident. However, the plaintiff did not specifically recall whether the boys on that particular occasion were heading toward the back in order to turn on the sprinklers (Tr. 154-155). He

^{4/} In light of Michael's testimony that "I think we was just heading back to turn it on", the Court of Appeal was incorrect in concluding that "there was no evidence that ["the boys were proceeding toward the back"] for the purpose of adjusting those controls." 408 So.2d at 772.

did note that the pathway on which the three were walking "leads back toward where the sprinkler systems are" (Tr. 154). The plaintiff had accompanied Michael Davis in turning on the sprinklers on numerous occasions (Tr. 128-129), and had on occasion assisted him (Tr. 143). On this occasion, however, he could only recall that the three were walking back toward the sprinklers after having played with the dog (Tr. 125, 152). At this point, his recollection was identical to that of Michael Davis--that the plaintiff's small yellow dog appeared in the pathway ahead of them, that Shane started to run after him, and that the wagon which Shane was pulling hit the plaintiff's leg (Tr. 153-159).

The plaintiff suffered a severance of his Achilles tendon (Tr. 93-94). He required an operation to suture the two ends of the tendon together with a piece of wire, spent two weeks in a leg-long cast, three weeks in a short-leg cast, and three months in an orthopedic brace (Tr. 95-96). His injured leg was permanently weaker than the other leg (Tr. 103), and he had a permanent scar approximately four and a half inches long (Tr. 96, 138). He missed a month of school (Tr. 133), and he suffered intense pain when the wires were removed from his leg after the short-leg cast was taken off (Tr. 134). He was forced to stop playing football because he was no longer as fast a runner (Tr. 137-138), and he suffered various problems in his job as an electrician, including severe cramps in his calf and an inability to wear the shoes required at work (Tr. 137-139).

III ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT ON THE ASSERTED GROUND THAT §767.01, FLA. STAT., DID NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THE INSTANT CASE.
- B. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING UTICA'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT ON THE ASSERTED GROUND THAT THE INSURANCE POLICY AT ISSUE PROVIDED NO COVERAGE FOR THE DEFENDANT ON THE FACTS OF THE INSTANT CASE.

IV ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT ON THE ASSERTED GROUND THAT §767.01, FLA. STAT., DID NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THE INSTANT CASE.

It is important to note at the outset that the sole error alleged on this issue (Utica's brief at 9), and the sole basis for the Court of Appeal's ruling, 408 So.2d 769, was the failure of the trial court to direct a verdict for the defendant on the question of liability under §767.01, Fla. Stat. Thus Utica challenged the order of the trial court directing a verdict for the plaintiff on liability only insofar as Utica claimed error in the failure of the trial court to direct a verdict in its favor instead. There is no argument here, and no decision by the appellate court, that the question of liability should have been submitted to the jury--only Utica's contention and the appellate court's conclusion that the trial court should have ruled in Utica's favor as a matter of law.

Since Utica chose to frame the issue in that way, it is axiomatic that no other issue is appropriate for appellate consideration. See, e. g., GIFFORD v. GALAXIE HOMES OF TAMPA, INC., 204 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1967); CITY OF MIAMI v. STECKLOFF, 111 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1959); TRUXELL v. TRUXELL, 259 So.2d 766 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972); LESPERANCE v. LESPERANCE, 257 So.2d 66 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1971). Thus the judgment at trial on this issue should be reinstated if the trial court did not err in declining to direct a verdict for Utica, even if the trial court should have submitted the issue to the jury rather than directing a verdict for the plaintiff. The independent propriety of the directed verdict for the plaintiff is simply not before this Court.

It cannot be stressed too strongly that having thus framed the issue on appeal, Utica's burden was to demonstrate "that no evidence has been submitted on which the jury could lawfully find a verdict for the plaintiff, and [that this

conclusion results] from the presence of a state of facts that permits no other legal result." HERNANDEZ v. MOTRICO, INC., 370 So.2d 836, 838 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979). Because "the direction of a verdict can constitute an encroachment on the right of a litigant to a jury trial and an invasion by the Court of the province of a jury which is contrary to constitutional guarantees, where there is any evidence to justify a possible verdict for the non-moving party--even if a preponderance of the evidence appears to favor the movant," a verdict should not be directed. Id. at 838. Accord, WELFARE v. SEABOARD COAST LINE RAIL-ROAD, 373 So. 2d 886, 888-89 (Fla. 1979); HELMAN V. SEABOARD COAST LINE RAILROAD CO., 349 So.2d 1187, 1190 (Fla. 1977) ("For a directed verdict to be sustained, there needed to be a complete absence of competent evidence to support the verdict . . . "); TESHER & TESHER, P. A. v. ROTHFIELD, 392 So.2d 100 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) ("A directed verdict should not be entered unless no proper view of the evidence could sustain a verdict for the party moved against"); TESHER & TESHER, P. A. v. ROTHFIELD, 387 So.2d 499 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (error to direct a verdict where there is "some, slight or minimal evidence" tending to prove the plaintiff's case); DANIELS v. WEISS, 385 So.2d 661 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980); BILAMS v. METROPOLITAN TRANSIT AUTHORITY, 371 So.2d 693 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1979); LAIRD v. POTTER, 367 So.2d 642 (Fla. 3rd DCA), cert. denied, 378 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1979); O'CONOR ∨. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTA-TION, 364 So.2d 84 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978); SUN LIFE INSURANCE CO. OF AMER-ICA v. EVANS, 340 So.2d 957 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976). Thus, if there was "some, slight or any minimal evidence" in support of the plaintiff's position in this case, the trial court did not err in denying Utica's motion for a directed verdict. And that is the only question before this Court.

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