IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 61,681

DONALD ROY JONES, etc., et al., :

Petitioner,

vs.

UTICA MUTUAL INSURANCE CO.,

Respondent.

JUL 22 1992

JUL 23 1992

JUL 24 1992

JUL 24 1992

JUL 24 1992

JUL 24 1992

JUL 25 1992

JUL 2

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

SHACKLEFORD, FARRIOR, STALLINGS & EVANS, P.A.
501 East Kennedy Blvd.
Post Office Box 3324
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 273-5000

Attorneys for Respondent

BY: TIMON V. SULLIVAN

TOPICAL

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

or use of the premises for the purpose of a gasoline service station, and all operations necessary and incidental thereto, herein called service station operations". Id. at 1201. The court there determined that the employee whose negligence resulted in the injury was "doing an activity regularly associated with the service station business". Id. It would be misleading to suggest that this opinion is at all persuasive in a situation such as that presently before this court.

Similarly, the decision in <u>Knowles vs. Lumbermans</u>

<u>Mutual Casualty Company</u>, 69 R.I. 309, 33 A.2d 185 (1943)

involved a policy covering:

[t]he ownership, maintenance, occupation or use of the premises...including the public ways immediately adjoining for the purpose of an automobile dealer or repair shop, and all operations either on the premises or elsewhere which are incidental thereto,....

Id. at 186. That language is much more comprehensive than that present in the policy now before this Court. Even so, the court in Knowles did not rule, as Petitioners suggest, that the injury was "incidental to the performance of the dog's watchdog function". Rather, the court ruled that on new trial this language should be construed only to require a showing that the keeping of a watchdog on the premises was a customery incident to the ownership, maintenance, occupation or use of the premises as a garage, salesroom

or service station. Consequently, this is also a decision involving a theory of liability which is not present in this case. Even had the ruling been as Petitioners claim, the evidence in the present case is conclusive that Shane was not involved in activity incidental to the watchdog function.

The arguments which Petitioners make in the section of their brief captioned "The Legal Construction of the Policy" beg the question as to whether the boys or the dog were involved at the time of the injury in the conduct of Roy G. Davis' nursery business. Consequently, the issue to be determined if this court feels it is appropriate that a second appeal on this issue be allowed, is whether or not the accident arose with respect to the conduct of the nursery business.

Petitioners at trial contended that the accident arose with respect to the conduct of the nursery business under any three theories. First of all, Petitioners maintained that at the time of the accident the three boys were proceeding towards the back of the nursery where the irrigation system control was located. (TR.125-28). There was no evidence that the boys were proceeding in that direction at the time of the accident for the purpose of adjusting those controls or otherwise involving themselves with the irrigation system. The district court so observed in ruling that the boys were

not involved in activity related to the business. It is important to examine all of the testimony with regard to the reason the boys were proceeding towards the rear of the nursery. The injured Petitioner, DONALD ROY JONES, testified that he did not know why he and the other boys were proceeding toward the rear of the nursery. (TR.125, 154). Michael Davis, son of the owner of the premises, Roy G. Davis, testified that at the time of the accident the boys were still playing with Shane and the wagon, that is, running along next to Shane and the wagon. (TR.77-78). It is the remainder of Michael Davis' testimony upon which Petitioners allege they established that the boys were in fact engaged in some type of nursery business at the time of the injury. That testimony was as follows: (TR.83-88).

(Upon questioning by Plaintiff's counsel):

- "Q. Okay, I understand from something that
 Kenneth said that you had some chores that
 you were required to do around the nursery
 from time to time like turning on the
 sprinklers and things of that sort.
- A. (Indicating affirmatively).
- Q. Okay. When would you normally do that, if you remember back then?
- A. I would turn them on after working time and then I would turn them off whenever I was told in an hour or two hours. I don't remember if the water was running then or not. I don't remember if we were running through the water.
- Q. You just don't recollect?

A. Right.

. . .

(Upon cross-examination by defense counsel):

- Q. I just have a couple of questions, Mike. Were you working at the time this incident occurred?
- A. What do you mean by that? Working that day?
- Q. Well, yeah, that day.
- A. No, sir.
- Q. You didn't work at all that day?
- A. (Indicating negatively).
- Q. I believe it's your testimony --

"MR. FOSTER: I don't think he answered that."
What was your answer to that last question?
You didn't work at all that day is what he asked.

DEPONENT: Right.

- Q. (BY MR. STALLINGS) Did you work at all that day?
- A. Other than turning on and off water, no.
- Q. You did nothing else by way of work in that nursery?
- A. Not that I can remember.
- Q. Had you turned on the water at the time this incident occurred? Do you recall?
- A. I don't remember if we was going back to turn it on or if it was already on.

. . .

- Q. At the time this incident occurred or shortly before, were Kenneth or Donald doing any work at the nursery?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. Were they buying any plants?
- A. No, sir. They just came over to play.
- Q. They just came over to play?
- A. (Indicating affirmatively).

. . .

(Upon questioning by Plaintiff's counsel):

- Q. You don't recall whether you had turned it on or you were going to turn it on?
- A. I think we were just heading back to turn it on. I can't remember if it was the weekend or not, 'cause if it was a weekend, we didn't turn it on until mid-afternoon, mid-afternoon to late afternoon.

. . .

- Q. It is your recollection that you were going back to turn it on or had gone back to turn it on already?
- A. Yes."

Although Petitioners maintain that the single statement by Michael Davis, "I think we was just heading back to turn it on" was uncontradicted by the witnesses and is sufficient to sustain a jury finding that some conduct of the business was ongoing at the time of the incident, it is clear from a review of the testimony set forth above that Michael Davis himself contradicted that statement. It is clear that he

was uncertain as to whether or not the boys were engaged in any conduct of the business at the time of the accident. Because Michael Davis himself was speculating as to whether or not they were involved in the conduct of the business, so too, the jury could only speculate as to this matter. As the District Court of Appeal recognized, a jury's verdict cannot rest on mere probability or guess, arbitrary action, whim or caprice. Lynn v. Pulford, 200 So.2d 201 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). That decision must have a rational predicate in the evidence, that is, must rest on evidence which can be pointed out in the record as constituting a reasonable foundation. Babcock vs. Flowers, 198 So.2d 326 (Fla. 1940); Corum v. Warren, 200 So.2d 829 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1967). It is clear that no rational predicate in the evidence existed for the jury's verdict regarding insurance coverage, and that that verdict was correctly reversed inasmuch as there was no testimony that the boys were involved in any conduct of the business at the time of the injury. The single statement by Michael Davis was no more than speculation, which when read in conjunction with his other comments make it clear that he simply did not know for what reason the boys were on their way to the back of the nursery at the time of the injury. The Second District Court of Appeal's conclusion that there was no evidence the purpose of this trip was in any way related to the conduct of the

business was an accurate conclusion after fairly reading all of the testimony.

The second theory upon which the Petitioners proceeded at trial was that the dog, Shane, in combination with the wagon was used for some purpose in the business.

Roy G. Davis eliminated this theory when he testified that the combination of Shane pulling the wagon was not used in the nursery business for any purpose. (TR.60, 66, 67).

Specifically Mr. Davis testified:

- "Q. Did you ever use Shane to pull plants around?
- A. No.
- Q. So the combination of the wagon and Shane pulling the wagon was not used in any way in your business?
- A. That's correct."

Thus, the second theory of Petitioners is without merit.

The only remaining basis which Petitioners maintain supports their theory that some conduct of the business was ongoing at the time of the injury would be that the dog was employed as a watchdog after business hours, and because the injury occurred after the nursery had closed for the day a jury could find that the conduct of the nursery business was ongoing at the time of the injury. Petitioners have essentially forsaken all other arguments and suggested that the true question before the Second District Court of Appeal was

"whether the dog was working for the business at the time of the injury". (Brief of Petitioners at 42).

Contrary to Petitioners' claims, the testimony was not unanimous that the boys had stopped playing with Shane at the time the injury occurred. (TR.77-78). Additionally, Petitioners claim that Shane was not a family pet also misrepresents the facts. (Brief of Petitioner at 5). Both Mr. Davis and his son, Michael, testified that Shane was also a family pet. (TR.73, 89). The testimony at trial was that Shane was given to Mr. Davis as a gift, that Shane was a family pet who associated with all members of the family and that Shane was not directly used in the business but was a barking dog allowed to run loose throughout the entire premises, including the business portion, at night. (TR.42, 71-73).

With this background, Petitioners first maintain that Shane was "capable of performing as watchdog-type function" at the time the injury occurred and that therefore the injury arose with respect to the conduct of the business. Respondent suggests that the Second District Court's interpretation of the policy was proper, and that the test to be employed is whether the dog was conducting some business of her employer at the time of the accident. The court was further correct that this question can be answered only by determining whether or not the dog was involved in what the

employment contemplated. Although the trial judge suggested during argument on directed verdict motion that Shane was "on duty" at the time of the injury (TR.278), Respondent suggests that even if the dog was considered an employee of the business who was "on duty" at the time of the injury, the Second District Court was correct in determining that the dog was outside of the scope of employment at the time and therefore the accident did not occur with respect to the conduct of the business.

The test to be utilized in determining whether the dog, as with any employee, was conducting some business of its employer at the time of this accident is whether the dog was doing what the employment contemplated. Morrison Motor Company vs. Manhiem Services Corporation, 346 So.2d 102 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). The business of the employer is being conducted only when the activity of the employee is the type he was employed to perform, that activity occurs within the time and space limits of the employment and the activity is motiviated by the purpose to serve the employer. Id. at 104. Although the dog here was within the time and space limits of his employment in that the business was closed and he was on the nursery property, it is undisputed by the evidence that the dog was not employed by the nursery business to pull the wagon for any purpose. Further, although the dog was serving as a pet for Michael Davis at the time of this

injury, there is no testimony that he was in any way performing the duties of a watchdog and serving thereby Roy G. Davis in the nursery business. The only conclusion which can be reached from a viewing of the evidence in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff is that the dog was not in any way conducting the business of his employer at the time of this accident.

The interesting case of American Motors Insurance Co. vs. American Employers Insurance Co., 447 F. Supp 1314 (WD La. 1978) is instructive in this regard. The insured crewboat company in that case maintained a policy of liability insurance which covered the conduct of its business. While on duty, an employee of the crewboat company shot a third person. Although the employee maintained his motive in shooting was to prepare himself to defend his employer's vessel against sharks, the court found the employee outside the scope of his employment. The court therefore found coverage did not exist under the employer's business liability policy because "circumstances and purposes of the acts did not reasonably foster the employer's business". Id. at 1321. Similarly, the circumstances and purposes of the acts involved in the accident which resulted in Petitioner's injuries in the instant case were not those which reasonably fostered the business of ROY G. DAVIS d/b/a TAMPA WHOLESALE NURSERY. Therefore, no coverage exists under the policy of insurance

issued by UTICA MUTUAL.

Most persuasive is the Minnesota Supreme Court decision in Employers Mutual Casualty Co. vs. Kangas, 245 NW2d 873 (Minn. 1976). There, as in the case now before this court, a sole proprietor had been issued a comprehensive general liability insurance policy. The policy before the Kangas court provided coverage "only with respect to the conduct of a business of which he is the sole proprietor".

Id. at 875. This coverage language considered by Kangas court is identical to that construed by the trial court below and now before this court on appeal.

The business of the insured in <u>Kangas</u> was "portable welder". On the date of the accident, July 4, 1973, the insured had performed some services at a speedway during the daytime. That evening, after the races had ended, the insured left his portable welding rig and walked onto the infield of the speedway. He then began igniting fireworks. Shortly thereafter he was informed that a young child had been injured by the fireworks.

In arguing that coverage existed under the comprehensive general liability insurance policy, it was contended that during the time period in which the injury occurred, the alleged insured was available for work and would have worked if requested. Likewise, in the instant lawsuit, it was suggested that the dog was available to act as a watchdog

had any intruders entered the premises. The <u>Kangas</u> court found, however, that the policy provided coverage only when the conduct of the business was ongoing at the time of the accident. <u>Id</u>. at 877. Appellant suggests this logic is compelling and should be applied by this court to the present facts.

The <u>Kangas</u> court further commented that the insurer must have been able to reasonably foresee the liability-producing conduct as emanating from the insured's business. As Defendant Davis' testimony made clear, even he did not foresee that such an injury would arise from the conduct of his business inasmuch as the dog and wagon were not used in any fashion in that business.

Respondent respectfully suggests that because the sole proprietor of the business himself cannot be said to have reasonably foreseen that an injury would occur in the manner Petitioner was injured suggests also that the activity was not reasonably foreseeable to Respondent. Consequently, to determine that coverage exists based upon the mere fact that the dog contributed to the injury constitutes error. There being no evidence that any activity of the business was being conducted at the time of this accident, no coverage exists and the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of Respondent UTICA MUTUAL on the issue of insurance coverage.

CONCLUSION

Respondents would respectfully request that this court affirm the holding of the Second District Court of Appeal that Florida Statutes §767.01 (1973) does not apply to the facts in this case because the injury to Donald Roy Jones was not proximately caused as a result of a risk created by the mere act of dog ownership. Further, Respondent would request that this Court affirm the Second District Court of Appeals alternative holding that no liability exists pursuant to that statute in this case because the affirmative testimony at trial was that the dog did not direct any affirmative or aggressive act toward Donald Roy Jones. Additionally, Respondent would ask that this Court decline to consider the issue of insurance coverage because that issue is not properly before this Court there having been no finding or contention of conflict or other basis for a second appeal. In the event that this Court does deem it proper to consider the insurance coverage issue, Respondent would request that the ruling of the Second District Court of Appeal be affirmed in all respects.